## BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Promote Policy and Program Coordination and Integration in Electric Utility Resource Planning.

Rulemaking 04-04-003

## REPLY COMMENTS OF THE COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES ON THE STAFF CAPACITY MARKETS WHITE PAPER

October 11, 2005

Prepared by:

David Marcus P.O. Box 1287 Berkeley, CA 94701 dmarcus2@sbcglobal.net Marc D. Joseph Adams Broadwell Joseph & Cardozo 601 Gateway Boulevard, Suite 1000 South San Francisco, CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 Telephone (650) 589-5062 Fax mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com

Attorneys for Coalition of California Utility Employees

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	GO SLOWLY – OTHER OPTIONS MAY BE BETTER	2
II.	A CAPACITY MARKET WILL NOT PRODUCE NEW GENERATION	5
III.	A CAPACITY MARKET MAY <i>IMPEDE</i> NEW GENERATION	6
IV.	A CAPACITY MARKET CONFLICTS WITH THE COMMISSION'S MANDATE THAT LSEs HAVE AT LEAST A 15% RESERVE MARGIN	8
V.	LOCATIONAL ISSUES NEED TO BE ADDRESSED FIRST, REQUIRING MULTIPLE CAPACITY MARKETS, NOT JUST ONE, WITH DIFFERENT PRICES	9
VI.	A CAPACITY MARKET WOULD BE OPERATED BY THE CAISO, MAKING IT FERC JURISDICTIONAL AND THUS CEDING CPUC AUTHORITY	9
VII.	THE DEVIL WILL BE IN THE YEARS OF DETAILS	10
	A. Time scale of the market	11
	B. Treatment of existing vs. new generation	11
	C. Ex post vs. ex ante vs. no mitigation for high energy prices	12
	D. Interactions with LMP	
	E. Seams issues	
	F. Slope of the administratively determined demand curve	
	G. Performance issues	
	H. Residual or full market	
VIII.	REGULATORY STABILITY	16
IX.	CONCUSION	17

### BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Promote Policy and Program Coordination and Integration in Electric Utility Resource Planning.

Rulemaking 04-04-003

## REPLY COMMENTS OF THE COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES ON THE STAFF CAPACITY MARKETS WHITE PAPER

Pursuant to the Chief Administrative Law Judge's August 25, 2005 Ruling, the Coalition of California Utility Employees offers these reply comments on the Staff "Capacity Markets White Paper."

In our opening comments, we identified a host of reasons why the Commission should not proceed with the proposed capacity markets. Rarely has CUE found its comments on a major public policy question in harmony with such a large and diverse set of parties who make the same points in their comments. Even parties that ostensibly support or are neutral on the merits of creating a new centralized capacity market have identified the same troubling issues which CUE raised in our opening comments. Given the depth and breadth of opposition to rapidly plunging ahead, the Commission should seriously consider whether proceeding with the Staff's recommendations would do more harm than good.

1

In these reply comments we summarize the many points of agreement that counsel extreme caution or, as we described in our initial comments, humility.

### I. GO SLOWLY – OTHER OPTIONS MAY BE BETTER

CUE's opening comments began by asking, "do we have to go through this all over again?" and concluded that "the issue before the Commission is not how to construct a capacity market but whether to …." Even generation companies and marketers, not to mention the CAISO, suggest that the answer is "maybe not."

Calpine, the largest independent generation company in the nation, correctly warns the Commission that the "need for new capacity" is "more pressing" than the need for a new capacity market, and that attempting to develop a new capacity market "may distract stakeholders and policy makers."<sup>1</sup> Calpine, like CUE, prefers that the Commission "start with the bilateral market for now" and get its LSE-based resource adequacy requirements (RAR) working "before the Commission embarks on yet another major market structure activity."<sup>2</sup>

The CAISO is also strikingly cautious about the major new marketmaker role which the Energy Division appears to contemplate for it. The CAISO's discussion of "retail tariff structures" suggests that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Calpine, Comments of Calpine Corporation on Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Calpine, p. 9.

Commission's demand-side initiatives with critical peak pricing (CPP) may bring the demand response the White Paper says is lacking.<sup>3</sup> The CAISO also "recommends that more attention be paid to a range of alternative capacity mechanisms," calls for the CPUC to "move cautiously" and, overall, pointedly declines to endorse "any specific form of long-term resource program."<sup>4</sup>

Morgan Stanley is more upfront. It calls the Energy Division's proposal "a fundamentally flawed proposal" and says that the existing PJM capacity market "has resulted in the worst possible outcome for consumers."<sup>5</sup>

AReM also sees that the Energy Division's proposed capacity market as a recipe for trouble: "demand-curve based capacity markets are an attempt to remedy the consequences of a distortionary policy with another distortionary policy."<sup>6</sup>

Consumer groups share the concerns of marketers, generators and the CAISO. ORA calls on the Commission to "step back"<sup>7</sup> and lists a variety of actions that may obviate any need for a capacity market: MRTU, bid cap increases, LMP, renewable procurement, and DSM,<sup>8</sup> as well as demand

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CAISO, Opening Comments of the California Independent System Operator Corporation on the California Public Utility Commission's Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CAISO, pp. 1, 4, 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Morgan Stanley, Comments of Morgan Stanley Capital Group Inc. on Staff Capacity Markets White Paper, pp. 11, 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Lynne Kiesling, An Analysis of Electricity Capacity Markets in California, p. iii.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> ORA, Comments of the Office of Ratepayer Advocates on the California Public Utilities Commission Energy Division Staff Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> ORA, pp. 1-2.

response through AMI/CPP<sup>9</sup> and RAR non-performance penalties.<sup>10</sup> Indeed, ORA is so troubled by the White Paper's single-minded focus on a particular kind of capacity market that it writes, "[t]his evolving rationale is somewhat troubling as it indicates that we sometimes do not know what problem we are trying to solve."<sup>11</sup>

TURN, the major consumer group involved in CPUC activities, puts its call to slow down right in its title: "Don't Rush to Judgment!"<sup>12</sup> TURN subsequently lists a variety of alternatives to the capacity market described in the White Paper "in order to demonstrate that there is no clear 'state of the art' in capacity market design, despite some of the implications to the contrary in the WP. … There is simply not a clear 'correct' answer that this Commission could rationally decide to implement on an accelerated basis in the near term."<sup>13</sup>

Finally, the major regulated electric utilities also express caution about the proposed capacity market. SDG&E presents a completely different alternative involving 4-year forward call options and fixed energy prices.<sup>14</sup> PG&E warns about the existing U.S. capacity markets that "[n]o Eastern

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> ORA, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> ORA, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> ORA, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> TURN, Comments Of The Utility Reform Network On The Energy Division's Capacity Markets White Paper, Title page.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> TURN, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> SDG&E, Opening Comments of San Diego Gas & Electric Company (U 902 E) on the Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 5.

market has a proven, thoroughly successful track record."<sup>15</sup> And SCE "cannot support a capacity market construct that does not *fully replace* the Commission's current resource adequacy requirements."<sup>16</sup>

# II. A CAPACITY MARKET WILL NOT PRODUCE NEW GENERATION

Virtually every policymaker and participant in the electric utility industry is concerned about the need to construct new generation in the next few years. Thus the key question is, will the proposed capacity market help solve this problem? Our opening comments explained why it would not help get new generation built. Generators, utilities and other market participants all agreed with us.

PG&E says a capacity market won't result in new generation "for the foreseeable future."  $^{17}$ 

Morgan Stanley also says that capacity payments to generators in existing capacity markets have not led to new construction, and are not "bankable."<sup>18</sup>

Calpine says that 7-10 year power purchase agreements, not short term capacity market contracts, are needed to justify new construction,<sup>19</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> PG&E, Comments of Pacific Gas and Electric Company (U 39 E) on the California Public Utility Commission Energy Division Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> SCE, Comments of Southern California Edison Company (U 388-E) on Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 2, n.1 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> PG&E, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Morgan Stanley, pp. 2, 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Calpine, p. 3.

while SCE suggests that a "backstop mechanism" such as 15-year contracts (entered into by whom? SCE doesn't say) may be needed.<sup>20</sup>

IEP, speaking for many generators, endorses capacity markets but not because of their ability to facilitate new generation construction: "…near term new investment ultimately requires long-term bilateral contracting …. In the near term, however, new investment almost certainly will be driven by bilateral contracting." <sup>21</sup>

Williams confirms that "short term capacity markets – a month or a year in advance of the need ... are not sufficiently forward to allow new investment to compete...."<sup>22</sup>

Thus, if the Commission focuses on designing a new capacity market, it would divert resources from the real problem, and fail to ensure a reliable generation supply for the latter half of this decade. But it is even worse than that.

### III. A CAPACITY MARKET MAY IMPEDE NEW GENERATION

Capacity markets as proposed by the Energy Division not only fail to drive new generation investments, they may interact with existing bilateral markets so as to reduce the attractiveness of bilateral contracting and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> SCE, p. 5 and fn. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Comments of the Independent Energy Producer's Association on the Staff's Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Williams, Comments of Williams Power Company, Inc. on Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 4.

therefore reduce the amount of new generation built. Several parties pointed out ways in which this could occur.

The CAISO warned that a capacity market could act as a cap on bilateral prices,<sup>23</sup> and of course any price cap is a disincentive for investment, while Duke warns more generically that a capacity market should not "interfere with bilateral contracts."<sup>24</sup>

Constellation discusses at some length ways in which bilateral contracting could be reduced with a multi-year-forward capacity market.<sup>25</sup> Morgan Stanley flatly asserts that "long-term capacity markets eliminate or curtail bilateral, forward contracting...."<sup>26</sup>

But with a short-term capacity market, Williams indicates a similar risk that LSEs could stop procuring bilaterally and "default to centralized procurement, to the detriment of existing supply and new investment" if they are allowed (or required) to procure via a capacity market.<sup>27</sup>

SCE's comments show that the risk raised by Williams is not just hypothetical. SCE explains that it believes the existence of a capacity market would relieve LSEs of any obligation to procure bilaterally.<sup>28</sup> Thus SCE concludes that it is "not clear whether the existence of a capacity market

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CAISO, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Duke, Comments of Duke Energy North America on Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Constellation, Comments of Constellation Energy Commodities Group, Inc. and

Constellation NewEnergy Group, Inc. on Capacity Markets White Paper, pp. 8-12. <sup>26</sup> Morgan Stanley, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Williams, p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> SCE, pp. 3-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> SCE, pp. 3-4.

would assist LSEs in their attempts to bilaterally procure capacity if they so choose."<sup>29</sup>

In the face of widespread warnings that a capacity market could impede new generation, it would be irresponsible for the Commission to put future reliability at risk by proceeding with the capacity market proposal.

## IV. A CAPACITY MARKET CONFLICTS WITH THE COMMISSION'S MANDATE THAT LSES HAVE AT LEAST A 15% RESERVE MARGIN

CUE's opening comments warned that "the proposed capacity market, rather than providing a means to comply with the [15-17% reserve] resource adequacy requirement, provides a means not to comply."<sup>30</sup> The opening comments of both PG&E and SCE confirm our warning.

PG&E warns that a capacity market is inconsistent with the Commission's resource adequacy requirement of 15-17% reserves: "It is very important to recognize that a capacity market using a NYISO-type demand curve would not set the reserve margin at some pre-specified level, such as the 15-17% approved by the CPUC ... [R]eserve levels can either exceed, fall within, *or fall below* the desired reserve margin range.... A critically important question for the Commission is how its resource adequacy requirements, particularly the planning reserve margin, *could or should* coexist with a capacity market."<sup>31</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> SCE, p. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CUE, p. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> PG&E, p. 3 (emphasis added).

SCE goes farther than PG&E, and concludes that existing resource adequacy requirements cannot coexist with capacity markets and would thus have to be scrapped:

a capacity market completely replace[s] LSE-based resource adequacy requirement obligations.... SCE cannot support a capacity market construct that does not fully replace the Commission's current resource adequacy requirements.<sup>32</sup>

Having worked so hard to implement the RAR, it would not serve

California well to have the Commission now abandon that requirement.

## V. LOCATIONAL ISSUES NEED TO BE ADDRESSED FIRST, REQUIRING MULTIPLE CAPACITY MARKETS, NOT JUST ONE, WITH DIFFERENT PRICES

CUE's comments pointed out that the White Paper concedes that

capacity markets must be locational. Many commenters, including ORA,

CAISO, TURN, Constellation, Calpine and SCE, agreed on the necessity for

locational capacity markets.<sup>33</sup>

## VI. A CAPACITY MARKET WOULD BE OPERATED BY THE CAISO, MAKING IT FERC JURISDICTIONAL AND THUS CEDING CPUC AUTHORITY

CUE's opening comments pointed out the risks of ceding yet more

CPUC authority to FERC. But many commenters indicated that any new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> SCE, p. 3, fn. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> ORA, pp. 2, 15, 20; CAISO, pp. 8, 11, 16; TURN, p. 9; Constellation, p. 17; Calpine, p. 6; SCE, p. 10, endorsing "reasonable LICAP requirements with locally varying demand curves" while warning that implementation will be "potentially complex...difficult...will require careful planning...will not fully meet all of the CAISO's reliability constraints...."; see also Morgan Stanley; IEP; Williams; SDG&E; PG&E; West Coast Power (West Coast Power Comments on Staff Capacity Markets White Paper); and Sempra (Comments of Sempra Global on Capacity Markets White Paper).

capacity market would be operated by the CAISO, which would make it subject to FERC's jurisdiction.<sup>34</sup> Some went further and called for the CAISO to design as well as operate the new markets.<sup>35</sup> PG&E specified its belief that the CAISO should be responsible for defining the local areas covered by each locational capacity market, should operate the markets, and should serve as the entity actually collecting capacity payments from LSEs and then disbursing those payments to generators.

It was left to SCE to make explicit the *de facto* abdication of authority by the CPUC which capacity markets would entail: "If the CAISO must request FERC approval for a detailed capacity market design, … the [CPUC] seems left with the same recourse as any other party before FERC and no specific authority ...."<sup>36</sup>

Again ceding CPUC authority to FERC is not a wise move for California.

### VII. THE DEVIL WILL BE IN THE YEARS OF DETAILS

CUE's opening comments warned that "nothing is as simple as it first appears."<sup>37</sup> Since then, TURN has warned the Commission elsewhere that "[a]s much as we might like the world to be simple, it simply is not."<sup>38</sup> Looking at the overall issue of capacity markets, AReM warned that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Mirant (Comments of Mirant California, LLC, Mirant Delta, LLC, and Mirant Potrero, LLC, on Capacity Markets White Paper); West Coast Power; Williams; Constellation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> IEP; Duke; Sempra.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> SCE, p. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> CUE, p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> TURN, post-workshop comments, A. 05-04-015 (DPV2), 10/6/05.

"capacity market design is incremental and costly," and the White Paper ignores the cost to set up a "well-designed" capacity market, or the costs that will result if a poorly designed market is set up,<sup>39</sup> while SCE warned that "there are a myriad of design details that need to be worked out, and SCE's support for an organized capacity market is contingent on a reasonable resolution of those details."<sup>40</sup>

Some particular areas where the comments of parties other than CUE show that there are likely to be long, difficult disputes are described below.

### A. Time scale of the market

TURN, SDG&E, and Sempra all endorsed long-term markets,<sup>41</sup> and SCE wanted a long-term market considered, but Morgan Stanley warned that long-forward markets cause decisions based on "inherently increasingly inaccurate data."<sup>42</sup>

### B. Treatment of existing vs. new generation

The White Paper contemplates paying a single clearing price for all capacity procured in each particular market, subject to performance adjustments. But both ORA and Morgan Stanley asserted that such a capacity market will overpay existing generation,<sup>43</sup> implying that perhaps existing generation should not be allowed to participate in a capacity market.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> AReM, Comments of the Alliance for Retail Markets on the Capacity Market White Paper, p. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> SCE, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> TURN, pp. 4, 8; SDG&E; Sempra; SCE, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Morgan Stanley, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> ORA, p. 2; Morgan Stanley, p. 4.

# C. Ex post vs. ex ante vs. no mitigation for high energy prices

The question of how much to pay for capacity from generation which is already making a substantial operating profit from its energy sales brought a wide range of responses. This is just the sort of subtle but complex market design issue, with millions of dollars at stake, where the Commission is unlikely to be able to find the "right" answer even if one exists.

TURN and SCE proposed ex post mitigation for high energy prices, while Constellation, Mirant and West Coast Power said ex ante, IEP said ex ante or not at all, Duke said full netting of energy profits from capacity payments would just be wrong, and Sempra called for no mitigation at all.<sup>44</sup>

Morgan Stanley says **any** method will be "difficult" and "administratively complex," and the Electricity Oversight Board (EOB) says mitigation will be hard to calculate. Mirant raises the possibility that the mitigation offset could be bigger than the capacity payment itself, and asks, what happens then?<sup>45</sup>

### D. Interactions with LMP

ORA raised the possibility that interactions between regional capacity markets (even a locational capacity market would still have flat prices across some fairly large geographical region, perhaps as large as all of SP15 and certainly as large as, say, San Diego County) and the nodal energy prices due

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> TURN, p. 8; SCE, pp. 6, 9-10; Constellation; Mirant; West Coast Power; Duke, p. 5; Sempra, pp 8-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Morgan Stanley; EOB, Comments Of The California Electricity Oversight Board On The CPUC Energy Division Capacity Markets White Paper, p. 2; Mirant, p. 14.

in 2007 under the ISO's LMP proposal would have the effect of muting the very locational prices that have been the object of years of market-design efforts.<sup>46</sup>

### E. Seams issues

In its comments on the White Paper, Powerex warned the Commission that there will be a "multitude of seams issues." In other comments, CERS and Morgan Stanley specifically raised the issue of how liquidated damages (LD) contracts involving imports into California will be treated. The issue is huge because of the large number of MW under contract with CERS in the form of LD imports. Calpine flatly opposed any LD contracts being allowed to participate in capacity markets.<sup>47</sup>

In a completely different set of seams issues, California utilities have historically engaged in large exchange contracts with Pacific Northwest (PNW) utilities in which California sold winter *energy* to the PNW in exchange for summer *capacity*. Such contracts have been mutually beneficial to the tune of hundreds of millions, if not billions, of dollars. Indeed, it was the opportunity for exchanges between the PNW and California which was the basis for building all the large transmission lines between the PNW and California. But a money-for-capacity market would do nothing to facilitate such exchanges in the future, and might even block them from occurring because they would not fit into standard product definitions. SCE's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> ORA, pp. 12-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Calpine, p. 6.

comments emphasized that "a capacity market structure with rules that appropriately recognize the need to encourage exchanges with the Pacific Northwest...will be essential...,"<sup>48</sup> but provided no ideas as to what such a structure might look like.

### F. Slope of the administratively determined demand curve

The White Paper described a simple demand curve shape: horizontal on the left, then linearly declining to the X-axis. But the White Paper comments show that implementation would not be so simple as all that.

The Electricity Oversight Board proposed that the slope of the demand curve should be low, which means that small differences in price would correspond to large differences in reserve margin – sure to be a controversial result. But on the other extreme, SCE called for the demand curve to be related to "loss of load probability and the level of capacity in the system," which implies a strongly non-linear curve quite unlike the curves portrayed in the White Paper.<sup>49</sup> Meanwhile, Sempra was unsure if there should be CPUC-determined demand curve at all, and AReM said that any demand curve would be totally artificial and it would be cheaper to reduce demand by 2000 MW in the 32 hours with highest loads than to build 2000 MW of peakers that each run no more than 32 hours per year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> SCE, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> EOB; SCE, p. 15.

### G. Performance issues

Parties had many ideas about how performance should affect payments in capacity markets, and how performance should be measured. The obvious problem is that since LSEs already have bilateral contracts for generator output with differing performance obligations, there will need to be some way to take those differences into account when bidding those contracts into the proposed capacity markets. So even if a "standard" set of performance requirements can be decided upon, there will still be performance issue problems to resolve.

In addition, since all generating plants are not created equal, this problem will continually reoccur.

### H. Residual or full market

The White Paper contemplates a market in which all capacity is obtained via the capacity market. But as PG&E points out, if the capacity market is for all MW, then bilateral contracts become only financial instruments. And if bilateral contracts are just financial hedges, it is not obvious why utilities will be particularly motivated to enter into them, or why they will devote the care and attention to operational issues which they are currently devoting with bilateral contracts. Perhaps in recognition of this prospective problem, Calpine says any capacity market should just be for otherwise unmet residual needs.<sup>50</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Calpine, p. 3.

The decision as to whether any future capacity markets should be for all capacity or only for residual capacity needs not yet met through other mechanisms is a key decision whose potential for controversy the Commission has not yet recognized.

### VIII. REGULATORY STABILITY

Regulatory stability is like apple pie – who could be against it? But CUE's opening comments pointed out that the CAISO has been anything but stable in its rules since 1998. "Capacity market design with regulatory stability" may well turn out to be one of the greatest oxymorons in the history of the CPUC.

The signs are already apparent in the opening comments on the White Paper. Mirant says that market design will have to change over time, but also calls for "certainty in the rules once set." IEP says "...stuttering progress may also be California's experience" because of a continuing need to fix problems with each successive iteration of market design. AReM says market design will be "incremental," meaning multiple changes and hence no regulatory stability. And finally, SCE would have a capacity market *replace* current RAR obligations, a major change in regulatory policy.<sup>51</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> SCE, p. 7 and p. 3, fn. 1.

### IX. CONCLUSION

With a multitude of parties asking the Commission to go slowly, while warning that the proposed capacity markets may discourage, not promote, new generation, will conflict with the Commission's 15-17% resource adequacy requirement, does not address locational issues first, will cede CPUC authority to FERC, will be bedeviled with years of struggle with complex details and will create continuing regulatory *in* stability, the Commission should have the wisdom to put the capacity market aside.

Instead, the Commission should finish implementing its resource adequacy requirement and apply it to all LSEs.

If the Commission wants to explore further regulatory changes, it should consider moving toward the model that has never had a generationbased blackout of its own making, has ample reserve margins, and has lower rates than any market based system: the regulated, cost-of-service generation of California's publicly-owned utilities.

Dated: October 11, 2005

Respectfully submitted,

Marc D Joseph Adams Broadwell Joseph & Cardozo 601 Gateway Boulevard, Suite 1000 South San Francisco, CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 Telephone (650) 589-5062 Fax mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com

Attorneys for Coalition of California Utility Employees

## **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I hereby certify that I have this day caused the foregoing REPLY COMMENTS OF THE COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES ON THE STAFF CAPACITY MARKETS WHITE PAPER to be served upon all parties to Rulemaking 04-04-003 via email, mail or messenger pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

Dated at South San Francisco, California, this  $11^{\rm th}$  day of October, 2005.

Bonnie Heeley

#### VIA EMAIL

keith.mccrea@sablaw.com rberliner@manatt.com lisa.decker@constellation.com garson\_knapp@fpl.com jimross@r-c-s-inc.com toms@i-cpg.com lurick@sempra.com hchoy@isd.co.la.ca.us dhuard@manatt.com msnow@manatt.com pucservice@manatt.com mlennon@whitecase.com mcmannes@aol.com klatt@energyattorney.com kduggan@capstoneturbine.com douglass@energyattorney.com annette.gilliam@sce.com berj.parseghian@sce.com beth.fox@sce.com case.admin@sce.com woodrujb@sce.com michael.backstrom@sce.com ehull@ci.chula-vista.ca.us dgarber@sempra.com fortlieb@sandiego.gov gbaker@sempra.com troberts@sempra.com KMelville@sempra.com mshames@ucan.org bpowers@powersengineering.com jkloberdanz@semprautilities.com wkeilani@semprautilities.com WKeilani@semprautilities.com ileslie@luce.com keith.fuller@itron.com george.hanson@ci.corona.ca.us chris@emeter.com mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com jeanne.sole@sfgov.org joe.como@sfgov.org map@cpuc.ca.gov mflorio@turn.org armi@smwlaw.com ayk@cpuc.ca.gov kpp@cpuc.ca.gov rmd@cpuc.ca.gov filings@a-klaw.com

nes@a-klaw.com rsa@a-klaw.com scarter@nrdc.org evk1@pge.com jlkm@pge.com j0b5@pge.com magq@pge.com bcragg@gmssr.com bcragg@gmssr.com chrishilen@dwt.com jsqueri@gmssr.com jarmstrong@gmssr.com jkarp@whitecase.com stevegreenwald@dwt.com edwardoneill@dwt.com lcottle@whitecase.com mrh2@pge.com ssmyers@att.net I\_brown123@hotmail.com mecsoft@pacbell.net aclark@calpine.com linda.sherif@calpine.com moxsen@calpine.com rick\_noger@praxair.com wbooth@booth-law.com eric@strategyi.com ramonag@ebmud.com rschmidt@bartlewells.com gmorris@emf.net jgalloway@ucsusa.org clyde.murley@comcast.net nrader@calwea.org tomb@crossborderenergy.com pcmcdonnell@earthlink.net jennifer.holmes@itron.com michaeledwardboyd@sbcglobal.net jbradley@svmg.org bmcc@mccarthylaw.com sberlin@mccarthylaw.com chrism@mid.org joyw@mid.org sarveybob@aol.com dkates@sonic.net brbarkovich@earthlink.net johnrredding@earthlink.net jweil@aglet.org gumbrelli@cs.com puma@davis.com

gtholan@caiso.com grosenblum@caiso.com matt@bradylawus.com dcarroll@downeybrand.com dkk@eslawfirm.com glw@eslawfirm.com Imh@eslawfirm.com steven@iepa.com dmahmud@mwdh2o.com rliebert@cfbf.com mpa@a-klaw.com dws@r-c-s-inc.com bjones@mjbradley.com carlo.zorzoli@enel.it aweller@sel.com jbwilliams@mwe.com myuffee@mwe.com mary.lynch@constellation.com eyussman@knowledgeinenergy.com tcarlson@reliant.com ghinners@reliant.com michael.crumley@elpaso.com william.tomlinson@elpaso.com dsaul@solel.com ckmitchell1@sbcglobal.net curtis.kebler@gs.com npedersen@hanmor.com cmlong@earthlink.net roger.pelote@williams.com frank.cooley@sce.com janet.combs@sce.com laura.genao@sce.com dwood8@cox.net tim.hemig@nrgenergy.com daking@sempra.com rru@sandag.org kmelville@sempra.com liddell@energyattorney.com tcorr@sempra.com ygross@sempraglobal.com usdepic@yahoo.com amabed@semprautilities.com irene.stillings@sdenergy.org jkloberdanz@semprautilities.com kmorton@sempra.com mschmidt@semprautilities.com susan.freedman@sdenergy.org centralfiles@semprautilities.com

jcervantes@sandiego.gov kjk@kjkammerer.com marks@alohasys.com ctoca@utility-savings.com mjskowronski@inlandenergy.com jskillman@prodigy.net rhoffman@anaheim.net jmcarthur@elkhills.com lcasentini@drintl.com diane\_fellman@fpl.com freedman@turn.org nao@cpuc.ca.gov ddowers@sfwater.org scasey@sfwater.org Dan.adler@calcef.org dwang@nrdc.org dickerson05@fscgroup.com gxl2@pge.com vjw3@pge.com rejohnson@att.com petertbray@yahoo.com cem@newsdata.com james.boothe@hklaw.com jeffgray@dwt.com lisa weinzimer@platts.com cpuccases@pge.com mdbk@pge.com ell5@pge.com sscb@pge.com rwalther@pacbell.net brflynn@flynnrci.com service@spurr.org keithwhite@earthlink.net vhconsult@earthlink.net jay.bhalla@intergycorp.com jackp@calpine.com kena@calpine.com sschleimer@calpine.com greg.blue@dynegy.com mona.tierney@constellation.com bill.chen@constellation.com sia2@pwrval.com ceyap@earthlink.net mrw@mrwassoc.com mrw@mrwassoc.com dmarcus2@sbcglobal.net craigtyler@comcast.net elvine@lbl.gov

rhwiser@lbl.gov knotsund@uclink.berkeley.edu philm@scdenergy.com janreid@coastecon.com bill@jbsenergy.com. vwood@smud.org cmkehrein@ems-ca.com e-recipient@caiso.com eleuze@caiso.com ppettingill@caiso.com rsparks@caiso.com brian.theaker@williams.com edchang@flynnrci.com abb@eslawfirm.com mclaughlin@braunlegal.com dgeis@dolphingroup.org kdw@woodruff-expert-services.com lkaye@ka-pow.com mlgillette@duke-energy.com blaising@braunlegal.com wwwesterfield@stoel.com gbrowne@smud.org hcronin@water.ca.gov cabaker906@sbcglobal.net kmills@cfbf.com jesus.arredondo@nrgenergy.com karen@klindh.com ntoyama@smud.org don.winslow@ppmenergy.com alan.comnes@dynegy.com mtrexler@climateservices.com samuel.r.sadler@state.or.us lscott@landsenergy.com LAdocket@cpuc.ca.gov ajo@cpuc.ca.gov bds@cpuc.ca.gov bsk@cpuc.ca.gov cab@cpuc.ca.gov tam@cpuc.ca.gov dsh@cpuc.ca.gov djh@cpuc.ca.gov cpe@cpuc.ca.gov jef@cpuc.ca.gov jf2@cpuc.ca.gov kdg@cpuc.ca.gov kms@cpuc.ca.gov kl1@cpuc.ca.gov lrm@cpuc.ca.gov

lp1@cpuc.ca.gov mzr@cpuc.ca.gov msw@cpuc.ca.gov meb@cpuc.ca.gov meg@cpuc.ca.gov mts@cpuc.ca.gov nil@cpuc.ca.gov psd@cpuc.ca.gov pha@cpuc.ca.gov rae@cpuc.ca.gov gig@cpuc.ca.gov sjl@cpuc.ca.gov sed@cpuc.ca.gov sst@cpuc.ca.gov car@cpuc.ca.gov tdp@cpuc.ca.gov tcx@cpuc.ca.gov vjb@cpuc.ca.gov ztc@cpuc.ca.gov info@tobiaslo.com andrew@simpsonpartners.com Mmesseng@energy.state.ca.us JMcMahon@navigantconsulting.com meg@cpuc.ca.gov bfranklin@eob.ca.gov cleni@energy.state.ca.us dks@cpuc.ca.gov jtachera@energy.state.ca.us kgriffin@energy.state.ca.us mjaske@energy.state.ca.us pduvair@energy.state.ca.us trf@cpuc.ca.gov tglaviano@energy.state.ca.us wsm@cpuc.ca.gov dsandino@water.ca.gov fdeleon@energy.state.ca.us aorchar@smud.org chicks@water.ca.gov jpacheco@water.ca.gov kglick@eob.ca.gov rwethera@energy.state.ca.us rmiller@energy.state.ca.us

## VIA U.S. MAIL

ENERGY AMERICA, LLC	OCCIDENTAL POWER SERVICES
ONE STAMFORD PLAZA, 8 <sup>TH</sup> FLR	INC
263 TRESSER BLVD	5 GREENWAY PLAZA STE 110
STAMFORD, CT 06901	HOUSTON, TX 77046
BP ENERGY COMPANY 501 WESTLAKE PARK BLVD HOUSTON TX 77079	APS ENERGY SERVICES COMPANY INC 400 E. VAN BUREN ST STE 750 PHOENIX, AZ 85004
NEW WEST ENERGY CORPORATION MAILING STATION ISB 665 PO BOX 61868 PHOENIX, AZ 85082-1868	CONTELLATION NEWENERGY INC 350 SO. GRAD AVE STE 2950 LOS ANGELES, CA 90071
MICHAEL MAZUR 3 PHASES ELECTRICAL CONSULTING 2100 SEPULEVDA BLVD STE 15 MANHATTAN BEACH, CA 90266	QUIET ENERGY QUIET LLC 3311 VAN ALLEN PL TOPANGA, CA 90290
AMERICAN UTILITY NETWORK	SEMPRA ENERGY SOLUTIONS
10705 DEER CANYON DRIVE	101 ASH ST HQ 09
ALTA LOMA, CA 91737	SAN DIEGO, CA 92101
CORAL POWER LLC	PILOT POWER GROUP INC
4445 EASTGATE MALL STE 100	9320 CHESAPEAKE DR STE 112
SAN DIEGO, CA 92121	SAN DIEGO, CA 92123
ELECTRICAMERICA COMMERCE ENERGY, INC. 600 ANTON BLVD STE 2000 COSTA MESA, CA 92626	COMMERCE ENERGY, INC 600 ANTON BLVD STE 2000 COSTA MESA, CA 92626
CITY OF CORONA	CALPINE POWERAMERICA-CA
DEPT WATER & POWER	LLC
730 CORPORATION YARD WAY	4160 DUBLIN BLVD
CORONA, CA 92880	DUBLIN, CA 94568

A 95670-

## VIA MESSENGER:

Docket Office	Jack Fulcher (5 copies)
CPUC	Energy Division
505 Van Ness Avenue	California Public Utilities
San Francisco, CA	Commission
	505 Van Ness Avenue
	San Francisco, CA 94102